

Cleveland State University EngagedScholarship@CSU

Law Faculty Briefs

Faculty Scholarship

10-1-2020

Complaint

Milena Sterio

Diane Marie Amann

Margaret deGuzman

Gabor Rona

Follow this and additional works at: https://engagedscholarship.csuohio.edu/fac_briefs

Part of the First Amendment Commons, and the International Law Commons How does access to this work benefit you? Let us know!

This Briefs and Court Filings is brought to you for free and open access by the Faculty Scholarship at EngagedScholarship@CSU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Law Faculty Briefs by an authorized administrator of EngagedScholarship@CSU. For more information, please contact research.services@law.csuohio.edu.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE 224 West 57th Street New York, NY 10019;

DIANE MARIE AMANN

Civil Action No.

MILENA STERIO

MARGARET DEGUZMAN

GABOR RONA

Plaintiffs,

v.

DONALD J. TRUMP, President of the United States 1600 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20500;

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF STATE 2201 C St., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20520;

MICHAEL R. POMPEO, Secretary of State 2201 C St., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20520;

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY 1500 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20220;

STEVEN T. MNUCHIN, Secretary of the Treasury 1500 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20220;

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 950 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20530;

WILLIAM P. BARR, United States Attorney General 950 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20530;

OFFICE OF FOREIGN ASSETS CONTROL 1500 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20220; and

ANDREA M. GACKI, Director of the Office of Foreign Assets Control 1500 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20220,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiffs, a public interest law center and four distinguished law professors, bring this action to challenge the lawfulness of Executive Order 13,928, *Blocking Property of Certain Persons Associated With the International Criminal Court* (the "Executive Order"), issued by President Donald J. Trump on June 11, 2020, and its implementing regulations, 31 C.F.R. §§ 520.101 *et seq.* (the "Regulations"), issued by the Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") on September 30, 2020.

- 2. The Executive Order empowers the Secretary of State to designate foreign persons determined to have engaged in or assisted efforts by the International Criminal Court ("ICC" or the "Court") to investigate or prosecute international crimes allegedly committed by Americans or personnel of certain United States allies, or to have assisted, supported, or provided services to or in support of designated persons. Engaging in prohibited interactions with a designated person is unlawful and subjects those who do so to civil and criminal fines, and, if a natural person, 20 years' incarceration, under the International Emergency Economic Powers Act ("IEEPA"), 50 U.S.C. §§ 1701 *et seq.* Such interactions also subject persons to being themselves designated under the Executive Order.
- 3. In the past, Plaintiffs have engaged with the ICC, including in its investigations and prosecutions, and Plaintiffs had intended to engage with it in the future. Plaintiffs also regularly assisted the individuals currently designated under the Executive Order—two high-ranking officials within the Court's Office of the Prosecutor—by educating, training, or advising them and members of their Office, and by undertaking public advocacy in support of their mission and work. The Executive Order and the Regulations have injured Plaintiffs by prohibiting them from continuing such education, training, advice, or advocacy.
- 4. The Executive Order and the Regulations impermissibly restrict Plaintiffs' First Amendment rights to freedom of speech by prohibiting them from providing the speech-based services and assistance described above, including with respect to ICC investigations and prosecutions that the United States supports. The Executive Order and the Regulations also lack the clarity required by the Fifth Amendment as to which acts subject a person to enforcement or designation, or which persons they cover. Finally, the Executive Order and the Regulations are

ultra vires under IEEPA, their governing statute, because they purport to regulate and prohibit Plaintiffs' provision of information and informational materials despite the statute's express exemption protecting such activity. Accordingly, Plaintiffs seek a declaration that the Executive Order and the Regulations violate the First and Fifth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and are ultra vires under IEEPA. Plaintiffs also seek an order enjoining Defendants from enforcing IEEPA's civil and criminal penalties against them or designating them under the Executive Order.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201–2202, and 5 U.S.C. § 706.
- 6. The Court has authority to grant declaratory and injunctive relief pursuant to the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 *et seq.*; 5 U.S.C. § 702; and the Court's inherent equitable powers.
- 7. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)(1) and (e)(1). Plaintiff Open Society Justice Initiative's principal place of business is in this District.

PARTIES

8. Plaintiff Open Society Justice Initiative ("OSJI"), a program of the Open Society Institute, is a public interest law center dedicated to upholding human rights and the rule of law through litigation, advocacy, research, and technical assistance. The Open Society Institute is a tax-exempt, non-partisan, not-for-profit organization headquartered in New York, New York, which is a member of the Open Society Foundations, a global network of independent legal entities that have chosen to maximize their effectiveness by working together towards a common mission.

OSJI undertakes legal work in a range of thematic areas including international justice in a variety of locations outside the United States.

- 9. Plaintiff Diane Marie Amann is the Emily and Ernest Woodruff Chair in International Law and Faculty Co-Director of the Dean Rusk International Law Center at the University of Georgia School of Law. In 2012, she was appointed Special Adviser to the Prosecutor of the International Criminal Court on Children in and affected by Armed Conflict. Plaintiff Amann resides in Georgia and is a citizen of the United States and Ireland.
- 10. Plaintiff Milena Sterio is the Charles R. Emrick Jr. Calfee Halter & Griswold Professor of Law at the Cleveland-Marshall College of Law. Plaintiff Sterio resides in Ohio and is a citizen of the United States and Serbia.
- 11. Plaintiff Margaret deGuzman is a James E. Beasley Professor of Law and Co-Director of the Institute for International Law and Public Policy at Temple University's Beasley School of Law. Plaintiff deGuzman resides in Pennsylvania and is a citizen of the United States and Canada.
- 12. Plaintiff Gabor Rona is Professor of Practice at Cardozo School of Law and Director of the Law and Armed Conflict Project at the Cardozo Law Institute in Holocaust and Human Rights. Plaintiff Rona resides in Massachusetts and is a citizen of the United States and Hungary.
- 13. Plaintiffs Amann, Sterio, deGuzman, and Rona are suing in their personal capacities and not in connection with their universities or any other institutions.
- 14. Defendant Donald J. Trump is President of the United States and is sued in his official capacity.

- 15. Defendant Department of State is a United States agency headquartered in Washington, D.C.
- 16. Defendant Michael R. Pompeo is the United States Secretary of State and is sued in his official capacity.
- 17. Defendant Department of the Treasury is a United States agency headquartered in Washington, D.C.
- 18. Defendant Steven T. Mnuchin is the United States Secretary of the Treasury and is sued in his official capacity.
- 19. Defendant Department of Justice is a United States agency headquartered in Washington, D.C.
- 20. Defendant William P. Barr is the United States Attorney General and is sued in his official capacity.
- 21. Defendant Office of Foreign Assets Control is a United States agency headquartered in Washington, D.C.
- 22. Defendant Andrea M. Gacki is the Director of the Office of Foreign Assets Control and is sued in her official capacity.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

The ICC and its Office of the Prosecutor

23. The ICC is a permanent court, based in The Hague, the Netherlands, which began operations in 2002. It was created by the 1998 Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (the "Rome Statute"), a treaty that currently has 123 States Parties from every region of the world.

- 24. Pursuant to the terms of the Rome Statute, the ICC may exercise jurisdiction over the investigation, prosecution, and punishment of individuals accused of serious crimes, including war crimes, crimes against humanity, and genocide.
- 25. States that ratify or accede to the Rome Statute consent to the ICC's investigation, prosecution, and punishment of international crimes within the Court's jurisdiction that are alleged to have occurred on States Parties' territory or by their nationals.
- 26. The ICC may also investigate and prosecute international crimes falling under its jurisdiction where the United Nations Security Council refers the situation to the Court. The United States voted in favor of such a referral by the Security Council with regard to the situation in Libya, and supported such a referral with regard to the situation in the Darfur region of Sudan.
- 27. The ICC has no independent enforcement power and relies upon States to arrest individuals who are subject to arrest warrants issued by the Court.
- 28. The Office of the Prosecutor is one of four "organs" that comprise the ICC, and is responsible for examining situations where international crimes under the jurisdiction of the Court are alleged to have been committed, carrying out investigations of such situations, and prosecuting individuals who are allegedly responsible for those crimes.
- 29. Ms. Fatou Bensouda is the Prosecutor of the ICC and the head of the Office of the Prosecutor. She has served as the Prosecutor of the ICC since 2012, after her unanimous election to that position by the States Parties to the Rome Statute.
- 30. Mr. Phakiso Mochochoko is the head of the Office of the Prosecutor's Jurisdiction, Complementarity and Cooperation Division. He has served in that position since 2011.

- 31. Investigations and prosecutions of international crimes within the jurisdiction of the Court include the following:
 - a. In April 2004, the Government of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (a State Party to the Rome Statute) referred to the ICC alleged war crimes and crimes against humanity, including recruiting child soldiers, rape, and murder, occurring in its territory since it ratified the Rome Statute in April 2002. In June 2004, the Office of the Prosecutor opened an investigation into these alleged crimes. One of the defendants was Bosco Ntaganda, who surrendered himself to the ICC in March 2013.
 - b. In March 2013, the Department of State stated that it "welcome[d] the removal of one of the most notorious and brutal rebels in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Bosco Ntaganda, ... to the International Criminal Court." In November 2013, the Department of State stated that the United States had "played a key role in the surrender of Bosco Ntaganda to the ICC."
 - c. In December 2004, the Government of the Central African Republic (a State Party to the Rome Statute) referred to the ICC alleged international crimes occurring in its territory during an armed conflict between 2002 and 2003. In May 2007, the Office of the Prosecutor opened an investigation into alleged war crimes and crimes against humanity committed during that conflict, including mass rapes and killings. In May 2014, the Government of the Central African Republic further referred the situation regarding the conflict occurring in its territory since August 2014 to the ICC. Ms. Bensouda opened an

- investigation in September 2014 into alleged war crimes and crimes against humanity committed during the conflict that led to thousands of deaths and left hundreds of thousands displaced.
- d. In January 2015, the Department of State stated that "[t]he United States welcomes the transfer ... by Central African authorities to the International Criminal Court" of a defendant who is currently standing trial before the Court.
- e. In March 2016, the Department of State expressed the United States' support for "the ICC's investigations in the Central African Republic [(CAR)]" and stated that "we commend CAR's commitment to ensuring accountability for serious crimes, including through its cooperation with the ICC in this matter as well as through domestic efforts to pursue justice."
- f. In March 2005, the United Nations Security Council, of which the United States is one of five permanent members, referred the situation in Darfur in Sudan (which not a State Party to the Rome Statute) to the ICC. In June 2005, the Office of the Prosecutor opened an investigation into alleged genocide, war crimes, and crimes against humanity committed in Darfur.
- g. In 2007, a spokesperson for the Department of State stated that the United States "fully support[s] bringing to justice those responsible for crimes and atrocities ... that have occurred in Darfur. We are at a point in the process now where we would call upon the Sudanese Government to cooperate fully with the ICC under the aegis of UN Security Council Resolution 1593. So it is now

- incumbent upon the Government of Sudan, we believe, to cooperate with the ICC."
- h. In February 2011, the United Nations Security Council referred the situation in Libya (which is not a State Party to the Rome Statute) to the ICC. In March 2011, the Office of the Prosecutor opened an investigation into Libyan security forces' alleged widespread and systematic attacks—including killings and disappearances—against the civilian population during an internal armed conflict, which could constitute war crimes and crimes against humanity.
- i. Speaking on the occasion of the decision of the United Nations Security Council to refer the situation to the ICC, the U.S. Ambassador to the United Nations stated: "[T]he Security Council has responded to the Libyan people's cry for help. The Council's purpose is clear—to protect innocent civilians. On 26 February [2011], acting under Chapter VII of the United Nations Charter, the Security Council demanded a halt to the violence in Libya and enabled genuine accountability for war crimes and crimes against humanity by referring the situation to the International Criminal Court."
- j. In a subsequent United Nations Security Council session, the United States stated that the referral to the ICC by "the Council reflected the importance that the international community attaches to ensuring that those responsible for the widespread and systematic attacks against the Libyan people are held accountable" and commended the Office of the Prosecutor, stating that the United States "welcomes the swift and thorough work of the Prosecutor.... The

- spectre of ICC prosecution is serious and imminent, and should serve as a warning to those around [former Libyan leader Muammar] Al-Qadhafi of the perils of continuing to tie their fate to his."
- k. In July 2012, the Government of Mali (which is a State Party to the Rome Statute) referred the situation regarding alleged international crimes occurring during the armed conflict in its territory to the ICC. In January 2013, the Office of the Prosecutor opened an investigation into alleged war crimes committed in Mali since January 2012, including in regard to the destruction of cultural heritage sites in the city of Timbuktu.
- 1. In October 2015, the Department of State stated: "We welcome the announcement by the Prosecutor of the International Criminal Court (ICC) that Ahmad Al Faqi Al Mahdi ... has been surrendered to the Court by Nigerien authorities. This is an important step toward holding accountable those responsible for serious crimes in Mali." The Department of State further stated: "The United States strongly condemns the destruction of Muslim shrines and other religious and historic sites in Timbuktu by extremist militants We are outraged by the destruction of these World Heritage Sites. These are assaults not just on Mali and its people, but on the common cultural heritage of all humankind, and those responsible for these acts—and all those responsible for atrocity crimes—should face justice. ... We commend Mali's commitment to ensuring accountability for serious crimes and its cooperation with the ICC in this matter."

- m. In September 2016, the Department of State stated: "The United States supports efforts by the ICC and Malian authorities to provide justice for these serious crimes committed in Mali. We commend Mali for its cooperation with the ICC in this matter, and we encourage continued national and international efforts to bring to justice senior extremist leaders who led the campaign to terrorize northern Mali and destroy symbols of its rich history of tolerance and cultural pluralism."
- n. In May 2018, the Government of the State of Palestine (which is a State Party to the Rome Statute) referred the situation in Palestine to the Office of the Prosecutor, to investigate alleged crimes committed on that territory since June 2014. This referral did not automatically lead to the opening of an investigation. In December 2019, Ms. Bensouda sought a ruling from the Pre-Trial Chamber of the ICC as to the scope of jurisdiction of the ICC. That request is pending as of the date of filing of this complaint.
- o. In March 2020, the ICC's Appeals Chamber authorized Ms. Bensouda to open an investigation into crimes allegedly committed in Afghanistan since 2003, including crimes allegedly committed by the Taliban, Afghan security forces, and U.S. personnel in Afghanistan (which is a State Party to the Rome Statute), and on the territory of other ICC States Parties.

Plaintiffs' Interactions with and Concerning the ICC and its Office of the Prosecutor

32. As set out below, Plaintiffs have had substantial interactions with the ICC, including with Ms. Bensouda and Mr. Mochochoko.

Open Society Justice Initiative

- 33. OSJI has a longstanding commitment to international justice. Where genuine efforts toward accountability for the commission of war crimes, crimes against humanity, and genocide are not taking place, OSJI has supported the ICC's mission to investigate and prosecute those individuals alleged to be most responsible for these crimes. OSJI's activities toward this end include:
 - a. In 2013, OSJI provided technical assistance to the ICC's Office of the Prosecutor to help improve its prosecutorial strategies by co-convening, together with the Office of the Prosecutor, a meeting attended by Ms. Bensouda and Mr. Mochochoko, among other ICC staff. These acts occurred in New York and the Netherlands.
 - b. Between 2013 and 2015, OSJI assisted the Office of the Prosecutor in ascertaining how the Office might utilize emerging technologies to analyze evidence of international crimes, including by bringing together experts in the fields of information technology and forensics with staff from the Office of the Prosecutor and supporting the establishment and operationalization of a technical advisory board. These acts occurred in New York and the Netherlands.
 - c. In 2015, OSJI organized a workshop to educate Palestinian civil society about the ICC, including opportunities to support the Office of the Prosecutor with regard to the collection of evidence relating to alleged international crimes committed in Palestine. These acts occurred in Ramallah, Palestine.

- d. In 2017, OSJI met with ICC staff, including from the Office of the Prosecutor, to assist in improving the Court's communications with a view to strengthening its effectiveness and public support. These acts occurred in New York, the Netherlands, and the United Kingdom.
- e. In March 2020, OSJI co-organized a workshop, attended by staff of the Office of the Prosecutor, which addressed strategies for improving the performance of the Office, including with respect to investigations and prosecutions, with the aim of contributing to an external review of the Court being conducted by States Parties. These acts occurred online due to travel restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic.
- f. Between 2017 and 2020, OSJI conducted educational sessions for civil society groups regarding the ICC and opportunities for participation in ICC investigations. These acts occurred in various countries.
- g. Over the last ten years, OSJI has met with members of the Office of the Prosecutor approximately 5-15 times per year. Those meetings have concerned: efforts to ensure that local civil society's views about and documentation of crimes are considered in the Office of the Prosecutor's preliminary examinations and investigations; consultations on the Office of the Prosecutor's policies (such as the policy on case selection and prioritization and the policy on prosecution of sexual and gender-based crimes); semi-public information sessions (such as on the status of preliminary examinations); and

- periodic meetings with ICC staff organized under the umbrella of the nongovernmental organization Coalition for the ICC.
- h. Since 2015, OSJI has held approximately 2-4 meetings or telephone calls per year with Ms. Bensouda to discuss civil society concerns and other issues relating to the work of the Office of the Prosecutor.
- OSJI has attended conferences, meetings, and events where Office of the Prosecutor staff have been present, including, for example, during the annual ICC Assembly of States Parties' ordinary sessions and gatherings of its subsidiary bodies.

Diane Marie Amann

- 34. On December 12, 2012, Plaintiff Amann was appointed by Ms. Bensouda to be the first-ever Special Adviser to the ICC Prosecutor on Children in and affected by Armed Conflict ("Special Adviser"). The appointment was made pursuant to Article 42(9) of the Rome Statute, which states: "The Prosecutor shall appoint advisers with legal expertise on specific issues, including, but not limited to, sexual and gender violence and violence against children." The press release announcing her appointment stated that she "will support and advise on policies and training or awareness with regard to children in and affected by armed conflict."
- 35. Plaintiff Amann accepted the appointment of Special Adviser in her personal capacity, and not as a representative of her university or any other institution.
- 36. A principal responsibility that Plaintiff Amann undertook as Special Adviser was to assist Office of the Prosecutor staff members in research, consultations, drafting, editing, and publication of the ICC Office of the Prosecutor *Policy on Children*. Leaders of that effort, with

whom Plaintiff Amann worked closely, included the heads of both the Legal Advisory Section and the Gender and Child Unit of the Office of the Prosecutor. The stated objectives of the *Policy on Children*, which was published in November 2016, include: "affirm[ing] the commitment of the Office to pay particular attention to crimes against or affecting children" and "[p]rovid[ing] clarity and direction to staff in the interpretation and application of the [Rome] Statute and the Rules [of Procedure and Evidence and Elements of Crimes], at all stages of the Office's work, in order to effectively address crimes against or affecting children." The *Policy on Children* applies to all ICC examinations, investigations, and prosecutions. Plaintiff Amann and Ms. Bensouda both made public presentations at a November 2016 event that launched the *Policy on Children*.

- 37. Plaintiff Amann provided advice to Ms. Bensouda and the Office of the Prosecutor through trainings, conferences, and other events on a range of topics including, but not limited to, the *Policy on Children*.
- 38. Plaintiff Amann has participated in numerous expert roundtables and other consultations with Office of the Prosecutor staff.
- 39. Plaintiff Amann's most recent publication, "The Policy on Children of the ICC Office of the Prosecutor: Towards Greater Accountability for Crimes against and affecting Children," published in 2020 in an *International Review of the Red Cross* special issue on war and children, criticized a ruling by ICC judges that had rejected "the prosecutor's 2017 request to open an investigation into conduct in Afghanistan ... by members of armed groups like the Taliban and of the armed forces of Afghanistan and the United States," on the ground that the ruling had "the effect of precluding an ICC prosecution for harms that children have suffered during the protracted conflict in Afghanistan."

- 40. Since 2012, Plaintiff Amann has worked with student research assistants to examine legal instruments, doctrines, reports, and opinions regarding international criminal law, children and armed conflict, and child rights. Plaintiff Amann has utilized this research to enable her to provide advice to the Office of the Prosecutor in her role as Special Adviser, including in the drafting and editing, along with staff members of the Office of the Prosecutor, of the *Policy on Children*.
- 41. Plaintiff Amann is a frequent contributor to influential international law outlets regarding issues relating to international criminal law and the work of Ms. Bensouda and the Office of the Prosecutor.

Milena Sterio

- 42. Plaintiff Sterio has attended several conferences with Office of the Prosecutor staff over the past several years, in which her presentations have been directed at Office of the Prosecutor personnel as well as academic audiences. In at least one such presentation, she advised that the ICC should investigate the situation in Afghanistan.
- 43. Plaintiff Sterio has attended the ICC Scholars Forum in The Hague in 2018 and 2019, and for the past seven years, she has attended the annual International Humanitarian Law Dialogues in Chautauqua, New York, a conference attended by prosecutors from various international criminal courts and tribunals, including the ICC.
- 44. Plaintiff Sterio has met and/or communicated with personnel in the Office of the Prosecutor in 2018 and in 2019, including during her visit to the ICC in June 2019.
- 45. Since 2006, Plaintiff Sterio has taught a seminar entitled "International War Crimes," in which she supervises student research on various prosecutorial issues and strategies,

including on the ICC's investigation into the situation in Darfur. The memoranda produced from this seminar have been submitted to the prosecutorial offices of international criminal tribunals, including the ICC's Office of the Prosecutor.

- 46. Since 2018, Plaintiff Sterio has served as Co-Chair of the Women in International Law Interest Group at the American Society of International Law. In this capacity, Plaintiff Sterio has interacted with Prosecutor Bensouda and other Office of the Prosecutor personnel.
- 47. Plaintiff Sterio has submitted *amicus curiae* briefs to the ICC supportive of positions advanced by the Office of the Prosecutor.
- 48. Plaintiff Sterio has published widely on the ICC in both academic and popular fora, where she has argued that the Afghanistan investigation fell within the ICC's jurisdictional mandate.

Margaret deGuzman

- 49. Since 2009, Plaintiff deGuzman has regularly given presentations about the ICC, some of which have been attended by ICC staff, including Ms. Bensouda, Mr. Mochochoko, and others from the Office of the Prosecutor.
- 50. Plaintiff deGuzman has submitted *amicus curiae* briefs to the ICC supportive of positions taken by the Office of the Prosecutor. In particular:
 - a. In 2013, Plaintiff deGuzman submitted an *amicus curiae* brief concerning the situation in Cote D'Ivoire and the definition of crimes against humanity.
 - b. In 2018, Plaintiff deGuzman submitted an *amicus curiae* brief concerning the situation in Darfur and the immunity of President Omar al-Bashir.

- 51. Plaintiff deGuzman has met and communicated with personnel in the Office of the Prosecutor on many occasions, including during her visit to the ICC in June 2019.
- 52. In May 2020, Plaintiff deGuzman's book, *Shocking the Conscience of Humanity: Gravity and the Legitimacy of International Criminal Law*, was published by Oxford University Press. A primary objective of the book is to influence the prosecutorial strategies of the Office of the Prosecutor. The book includes arguments against the ICC Pre-Trial Chamber's decision not to allow Ms. Bensouda to open an investigation into the Afghanistan situation.
- 53. Plaintiff deGuzman has published articles, book chapters, and essays on the ICC that are intended to influence the prosecutorial strategies of the Office of the Prosecutor, including arguing that the Prosecutor should have broad discretion in deciding when to investigate and prosecute. She has also stated her support for the Office of the Prosecutor in the media.

Gabor Rona

- 54. Plaintiff Rona has lectured on the ICC at academic conferences and military trainings held worldwide, including in the United States. From 1998 to 2005, he served as Legal Advisor in the Legal Division of the International Committee of the Red Cross and represented it in the negotiation of the Rome Statute's Rules of Procedure and Evidence.
- 55. In 2019, Plaintiff Rona filed an *amicus curiae* brief in the ICC's Appeals Chamber concerning the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction in relation to alleged international crimes committed in connection with the armed conflict in Afghanistan. Plaintiff Rona argued that the ICC has the authority to exercise jurisdiction over alleged crimes committed in relation to the situation in Afghanistan, but which occurred in third countries that are States Parties to the Rome Statute.

- 56. Plaintiff Rona has made numerous presentations on the ICC's jurisdiction over such alleged crimes in academic panels, blogs, and lectures, some of which have contained similar themes to his *amicus curiae* brief, others of which have criticized the Executive Order.
- 57. Since 2019, Plaintiff Rona has taught courses each academic semester on international law that include the topic of ICC jurisdiction over alleged war crimes committed in relation to the situation in Afghanistan.

The International Emergency Economic Powers Act

- 58. The Executive Order cites the International Emergency Economic Powers Act ("IEEPA"), 50 U.S.C. §§ 1701 *et seq.*, as the basis for its authority.
- anational emergency with respect to "any unusual and extraordinary threat, which has its source in whole or substantial part outside the United States, to the national security, foreign policy, or economy of the United States." 50 U.S.C. § 1701(a). When the President has declared such an emergency, the President may "block ... regulate ... void, prevent or prohibit, any acquisition, holding, withholding, use, transfer, withdrawal, ... dealing in, or exercising any right, power or privilege with respect to, or transactions involving, any property in which any foreign country or a national thereof has any interest by any person, or with respect to any property, subject to the jurisdiction of the United States." 50 U.S.C. § 1702(a)(1)(B). However, the President may not "regulate or prohibit, directly or indirectly ... any postal, telegraphic, telephonic, or other personal communication, which does not involve a transfer of anything of value," or the importation or exportation of "any information or informational materials." 50 U.S.C. §§ 1702(b)(1) and (3).

- 60. The President often exercises this authority under IEEPA by issuing an executive order forbidding the dealing in property or interests in property of certain persons, and authorizing federal agencies to "designate" those persons whose property or interests in property may not be dealt in.
- 61. Designation results in the designated person's inclusion on the Specially Designated Nationals List maintained by OFAC, an office of the Department of the Treasury.
- 62. Orders issued pursuant to IEEPA forbid "deal[ing] in" a designated person's "property or interests in property." OFAC has interpreted these terms broadly, such that virtually any interaction with a designated person is forbidden.
- 63. It is unlawful to violate an order issued under IEEPA. 50 U.S.C. § 1705(a). Those who violate such orders are subject to a civil penalty of the greater of \$307,922 or twice the value of the blocked transaction. *See id.*; 31 C.F.R. § 520.701; 85 F.R. 19884 (2020). They are also subject to criminal fines of up to \$1,000,000 and, if a natural person, up to 20 years' imprisonment.
- 64. Designation and enforcement of IEEPA's civil and criminal penalties are two distinct consequences under IEEPA. Both deter persons, including financial institutions, from interacting with designated persons.

The Executive Order and the Regulations

- 65. On June 11, 2020, President Trump issued the Executive Order, declaring a national emergency in connection with ICC investigations that may implicate U.S. personnel or the personnel of certain U.S. allies.
 - 66. On September 30, 2020, OFAC issued the Regulations.

- 67. Section 1(a)(i) of the Executive Order blocks and restricts transfer of the property and interests in property that are in the United States, or that come within the possession or control of any United States person, of any *foreign person* who is determined by the Secretary of State, in consultation with the Secretary of the Treasury and the Attorney General:
 - (A) to have directly engaged in any effort by the ICC to investigate, arrest, detain, or prosecute any United States personnel without the consent of the United States;
 - (B) to have directly engaged in any effort by the ICC to investigate, arrest, detain, or prosecute any personnel of a country that is an ally of the United States without the consent of that country's government;
 - (C) to have *materially assisted*, sponsored, or provided financial, *material*, or technological support for, or goods or *services to or in support of*, any activity described in subsection (a)(i)(A) or (a)(i)(B) of this section or any person whose property and interests in property are blocked pursuant to this order; or
 - (D) to be owned or controlled by, or to have acted or purported to act for or on behalf of, directly or indirectly, any person whose property and interests in property are blocked pursuant to this order.

Executive Order, § 1(a)(i) (emphasis added).

- 68. "Foreign person[s]" who perform acts described in Sections (1)(a)(i)(A)-(C) of the Executive Order are thus subject to designation.
 - 69. In particular, a "foreign person" may be designated for either:
 - a. Having "materially assisted, ... provided ... material ... support for, or ... services to or in support of, any person whose property and interests in property are blocked pursuant to this order;" (emphasis added) or
 - b. Having "materially assisted, ... provided ... material ... support for, or ... services to or in support of, any activity described in subsection (a)(i)(A) or (a)(i)(B)." These activities include the investigation or prosecution of

international crimes allegedly committed by Americans or personnel of certain United States allies.

- 70. Violating the Executive Order by dealing with the property or interests in property of a person designated under the Executive Order may subject the violator to enforcement of civil and criminal enforcement under IEEPA, as described in paragraph 63. The Regulations define "property or interests in property" to include "services of any nature whatsoever." 520 C.F.R. § 520.310.
- 71. Foreign persons who interact with a designated person, such as by providing services to or in support of that person, material assistance, or material support, may therefore be subject to both designation under Section 1(a)(i)(C) of the Executive Order *and* enforcement of IEEPA's civil and criminal penalties.
- 72. The Executive Order and the Regulations do not define the term "materially assisted." Neither OFAC nor any of the Departments of the Treasury, State, or Justice (collectively, the "Departments") has issued regulations or guidance clarifying the meaning of "materially assisted" as used in the Executive Order.
- 73. The Executive Order does not define the term "financial, material, or technological support." The Regulations define "financial, material, or technological support" as "any property, tangible or intangible, including currency, financial instruments, securities, or any other transmission of value; weapons or related materiel; chemical or biological agents; explosives; false documentation or identification; communications equipment; computers; electronic or other devices or equipment; technologies; lodging; safe houses; facilities; vehicles or other means of transportation; or goods." 31 C.F.R. § 304. Neither OFAC nor any of the Departments has issued

other regulations or guidance clarifying the meaning of "material support" as used in the Executive Order.

- 74. The Executive Order and the Regulations do not define the term "services to or in support of." Neither OFAC nor any of the Departments has issued regulations or guidance clarifying the meaning of "services to or in support of" as used in the Executive Order.
- 75. The Executive Order and the Regulations do not define the term "foreign person." Neither OFAC nor any of the Departments has issued regulations or guidance clarifying the meaning of "foreign person" as used in the Executive Order.
- 76. Other OFAC sanctions regimes contain varying definitions of "foreign person." For example, the Narcotics Trafficking Sanctions Regulations (the "Narcotics Regulations") define "foreign person" as "any citizen or national of a foreign state (including any such individual who is also a citizen or national of the United States), or any entity not organized solely under the laws of the United States or existing solely in the United States, but does not include a foreign state." 31 C.F.R. § 536.304.
- 77. The North Korea Sanctions Regulations (the "North Korea Regulations") define "foreign person" as "any person that is not a U.S. person." 31 C.F.R. § 510.310. The North Korea Regulations further define the term "U.S. person" as "any United States citizen, permanent resident alien, entity organized under the laws of the United States or any jurisdiction within the United States (including foreign branches), or any person in the United States." 31 C.F.R. § 510.326.
- 78. None of the Departments has issued regulations or guidance indicating which, if either, of the definitions of "foreign person" contained in the Narcotics Regulations or the North Korea Regulations applies to the Executive Order.

- 79. The Regulations state that their prohibitions do not apply to "[p]ersonal communications." 31 C.F.R. § 520.205.
- 80. The Regulations do not state that their prohibitions do not apply to information or informational materials.
- 81. The day the Executive Order issued, Attorney General Barr stated that "those who assist the ICC's politically motivated investigation ... will suffer serious consequences. The Department of Justice fully supports these measures and will vigorously enforce the sanctions imposed today under the executive order to the fullest extent of the law."

The Bensouda and Mochochoko Designations

- 82. On September 2, 2020, Secretary Pompeo announced at a press conference: "Pursuant to Executive Order 13928, the United States will designate ICC Prosecutor Fatou Bensouda, and the ICC's Head of Jurisdiction, Complementarity, and Cooperation Division Phakiso Mochochoko for having materially assisted Prosecutor Bensouda."
- 83. Secretary Pompeo stated that same day that "[i]ndividuals and entities that continue to materially support those [designated] risk exposure to sanctions."
- 84. Also on September 2, 2020, the Department of State issued a press statement on its website, stating: "[P]ursuant to Executive Order (E.O.) 13928, the United States is designating ICC Prosecutor Fatou Bensouda for having directly engaged in an effort to investigate U.S. personnel, and the ICC's Head of the Jurisdiction, Complementarity and Cooperation Division Phakiso Mochochoko for having materially assisted Prosecutor Bensouda."
- 85. On September 2, 2020, OFAC added Ms. Bensouda and Mr. Mochochoko to its Specially Designated Nationals List.

The Threats to Plaintiffs of Enforcement of IEEPA's Civil and Criminal Penalties and Designation Under the Executive Order, and the Present and Future Chill on Their Protected Speech

- 86. The threat of enforcement of IEEPA's civil and criminal penalties has injured, and continues to injure, Plaintiffs by causing them to discontinue activities they were performing before the Executive Order was promulgated, and Ms. Bensouda and Mr. Mochochoko were designated, and causing them to abandon or reconsider acts they had planned to perform.
- 87. The threat of designation under the Executive Order and Regulations has injured, and continues to injure, Plaintiffs by causing them to discontinue activities they were performing before the Executive Order was promulgated, as well as since Ms. Bensouda and Mr. Mochochoko were designated, and causing them to abandon or reconsider acts they had planned to perform.
- 88. In particular, the following threats have caused Plaintiffs to discontinue, abandon, or reconsider their ongoing and planned future acts:
 - a. *First*, interacting with Ms. Bensouda or Mr. Mochochoko would violate the Executive Order and the Regulations and in turn violate IEEPA. Thus, there is a threat that IEEPA's civil and criminal penalties will be enforced against Plaintiffs;
 - b. *Second*, interacting with Ms. Bensouda or Mr. Mochochoko would constitute material assistance, material support, or services to or in support of a designated person under Section 1(a)(i)(C) of the Executive Order. Thus, there is a threat that the Secretary of State will designate Plaintiffs for interacting with Ms. Bensouda or Mr. Mochochoko; and

- c. *Third*, some of Plaintiffs' planned acts might constitute direct engagement, material support, material assistance, or services to or in support of an activity listed in Sections 1(a)(i)(A) or 1(a)(i)(B) of the Executive Order. Thus, there is a threat that the Secretary of State will designate Plaintiffs for performing those acts.
- 89. The acts which Plaintiffs planned to undertake, but which they have abandoned or reconsidered in light of the Executive Order, include the following:

Open Society Justice Initiative

90. Plaintiff OSJI has participated in an ongoing formal "ICC review process," which commenced in January 2020. Through this process, which seeks to improve the performance and functioning of the ICC, including the Office of the Prosecutor, Plaintiff OSJI provided input on improvements in investigations and prosecutions by conducting research and workshops (in which ICC officials participated), publishing reports, making recommendations through formal submissions to the independent body reviewing the ICC, and directly communicating with Ms. Bensouda and members of the Office of the Prosecutor. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused Plaintiff OSJI to refrain from certain activities that pertain specifically to the Office of the Prosecutor. OSJI will therefore miss a unique opportunity to provide input into contemplated reforms regarding the Office of the Prosecutor's structure and with respect to preliminary examinations, investigations and prosecutions. This will interrupt Plaintiff OSJI's long-term project of bringing external expertise to bear in identifying and advocating for improvements.

- 91. Plaintiff OSJI had planned to continue training civil society groups about how the Office of the Prosecutor receives information and evidence provided by civil society in the context of ICC investigations. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused Plaintiff OSJI to refrain from continuing such training in a number of countries.
- 92. Plaintiff OSJI has been requested by civil society and victims' rights organizations in Palestine to undertake additional trainings and provide advice on submitting evidence to the Office of the Prosecutor relating to international crimes allegedly committed on Palestinian territory. The threats of enforcement and designation have prevented Plaintiff OSJI from committing to undertake such training and advice.
- 93. Plaintiff OSJI has stopped initiating or accepting meetings with Ms. Bensouda, Mr. Mochochoko, or anyone operating directly under their control or acting for them or on their behalf, and has refrained from attending any meeting where such persons are present when attendance could lead to a substantial exchange with them. Plaintiff OSJI has also refrained from taking part in meetings between civil society and the ICC when those are likely to lead to substantial interactions with Ms. Bensouda, Mr. Mochochoko, or anyone operating directly under their control or acting for them or on their behalf. Refraining from attending such meetings affects Plaintiff OSJI's capacity to learn and interact with the above-mentioned ICC staff, including Plaintiff OSJI's ability to monitor efforts to reform the ICC, to be in a position to inform other actors (including local civil society and other entities within the Open Society network) of developments in ICC situations and cases, and to shape Plaintiff OSJI's advocacy with ICC States Parties.
- 94. Plaintiff OSJI's fear of the threats of enforcement and designation is furthered by an open letter sent on August 5, 2020 from Representative Andy Biggs (5th District, Arizona) to

Attorney General Barr, urging the Attorney General to take action against the ICC and "key non-governmental organizations driving the ICC's investigation." Representative Biggs' letter referenced a report that named the Open Society Foundations—the umbrella network of which Plaintiff OSJI is a member—as one of the non-governmental organizations allegedly driving the investigation.

Diane Marie Amann

- 95. Prior to issuance of the Executive Order and the subsequent designations, Plaintiff Amann had planned to continue to provide advice to Ms. Bensouda, as well as assist with trainings, draft policies and procedures, and draft legal submissions, where appropriate, to support the Office of the Prosecutor on activities it will undertake with regards to children in and affected by armed conflict. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused Plaintiff Amann to stop advising the Office of the Prosecutor and Ms. Bensouda.
- 96. Plaintiff Amann had planned to engage student research assistants to assist her in providing advice to Ms. Bensouda and the Office of the Prosecutor. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused Plaintiff Amann to refrain from engaging student researchers this academic year for this purpose.
- 97. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused Plaintiff Amann not to organize or speak at conferences concerning the ICC.

Milena Sterio

98. Prior to issuance of the Executive Order and the subsequent designations, Plaintiff Sterio had planned to continue to interact with the ICC's Office of the Prosecutor on various

matters, including those connected with the Afghanistan investigation. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused her to reconsider doing so.

- 99. Plaintiff Sterio had planned to submit additional *amicus curiae* briefs on ICC cases, including upon request from the Office of the Prosecutor, potentially on the situations in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, the Central African Republic, Darfur, Libya, and Mali. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused her to refrain from doing so.
- 100. Plaintiff Sterio had planned to continue to supervise her students' advisory research submitted to the ICC Office of the Prosecutor. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused her to refrain from doing so.
- 101. Plaintiff Sterio had planned to continue attending conferences, such as the ICC Scholars Forum in June 2021 in The Hague, and the International Humanitarian Law Dialogs in August 2021, where she had planned to present additional work about the ICC. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused her to reconsider doing so.

Margaret deGuzman

- 102. Before the designations of Ms. Bensouda and Mr. Mochochoko, Plaintiff deGuzman was working on an *amicus curiae* brief to be submitted to the ICC that advanced a position supportive of the Office of the Prosecutor. Due to the threats of enforcement and designation, Plaintiff deGuzman terminated her involvement in the *amicus curiae* brief.
- 103. Prior to issuance of the Executive Order and the subsequent designations, Plaintiff deGuzman had planned to submit additional *amicus curiae* briefs to the ICC in support of positions advanced by the Office of the Prosecutor. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused her to refrain from doing so.

- 104. Plaintiff deGuzman has close working relationships with staff members in the Office of the Prosecutor, including in the Jurisdiction, Complementarity and Cooperation Division, with whom she consults frequently about their work. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused her to reconsider engaging in communications with them.
- 105. Because a primary audience of her recently published book on international criminal law (*supra*, paragraph 52) is the Office of the Prosecutor, Plaintiff deGuzman had planned to present the book to ICC staff in that Office. Due to the threats of enforcement and designation, Plaintiff deGuzman is no longer planning such a presentation.

Gabor Rona

106. Prior to issuance of the Executive Order and the subsequent designations, Plaintiff Rona had planned to submit further *amicus curiae* briefs to the ICC in support of positions advanced by the Office of the Prosecutor. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused him to refrain from doing so.

* * * * *

- 107. Each Plaintiff has discontinued, abandoned, or reconsidered acts that would have involved the transmission of information or informational materials from the United States to a foreign country.
- 108. In mid-September 2020, Plaintiffs had each been asked to sign on to a statement drafted by the Washington Working Group for the ICC, opposing and expressing grave concern with U.S. sanctions on the ICC, and calling on the U.S. government to rescind the Executive Order. On September 22, 2020, the statement was released publicly. The threats of enforcement and designation caused Plaintiffs to decide not to sign the statement.

109. The threats of enforcement and designation have caused Plaintiffs Amann, Sterio, deGuzman, and Rona to refrain from writing or publicly commenting on issues related to the situation in Afghanistan and the ICC more generally.

Plaintiff OSJI's Efforts to Clarify the Meaning of the Executive Order

110. Shortly after the issuance of the Executive Order, Plaintiff OSJI subscribed to email alerts with OFAC regarding "Blocking Property of Certain Persons Associated with the International Criminal Court Sanctions" and frequented the assigned sanctions program page on OFAC's website.

Plaintiff OSJI's Request for Interpretive Ruling from OFAC

- 111. On August 24, 2020, Plaintiff OSJI submitted a "Request for Interpretive Ruling Regarding Executive Order 13928" to OFAC (the "OFAC Request"). A true and correct copy of the OFAC Request is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.
- 112. In the OFAC Request, Plaintiff OSJI requested guidance from OFAC concerning what acts constitute "materially assist[ing]" or providing "services" to or in support of activities under the Executive Order. Specifically, Plaintiff OSJI asked about two categories of acts: (1) "General advice, training or support to the ICC"; and (2) "Specific advice, training or support to the ICC relating to subsections A or B of Section 1(a)(i)." The OFAC Request provided examples of acts in each category.
- 113. The OFAC Request requested that OFAC respond within 20 calendar days, explaining that September and October are critical time periods for persons concerned with matters relating to the ICC because the annual Assembly of States Parties is scheduled to take place December 7-17, 2020.

- 114. On September 8, 2020, OFAC acknowledged the OFAC Request by email and assigned a case number. A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. On September 9, 2020, an OFAC representative sent an email to Plaintiff OSJI stating that the representative had been assigned as the Licensing Officer "working on OFAC's response to [Plaintiff OSJI's] request for guidance on recent U.S. Government actions regarding the International Criminal Court," and "may be reaching out ... in the coming weeks with any questions." On September 15, 2020, Plaintiff OSJI responded and reminded OFAC that the request was time-sensitive and requested an estimate of when Plaintiff OSJI would receive a final response. A true and correct copy of this email exchange is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.
 - 115. Plaintiff OSJI has received no further response from OFAC.
- 116. The Regulations do not clarify the meaning of the terms that were the subject of Plaintiff OSJI's OFAC Request.

Plaintiff OSJI's Freedom of Information Act Requests to the Departments

117. On July 9, 2020, Plaintiff OSJI submitted separate but identical Freedom of Information Act requests (collectively, the "FOIA Requests") to each of the Departments. Item 1 of the FOIA Requests requested records containing particular search terms related to the ICC and the Executive Order. Item 2 of the FOIA Requests requested cables and communications to and from U.S. embassies regarding policy positions, requests and queries, to and from host governments pertaining to the ICC. The FOIA Requests requested expedited processing under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E), 28 CFR § 16.5(e)(1)(iii), 31 CFR § 1.4(e)(1)(iii), and 22 CFR § 171.11(f)(3), and a fee waiver under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii). A true and correct copy of the FOIA Requests is attached hereto as Exhibit 4.

- 118. The FOIA Requests sought expedited processing on the ground that Plaintiff OSJI is a non-profit organization that gathers information about government activity which is of substantial interest to the public, distills that information, and disseminates it to a wide audience, and that Plaintiff OSJI intended to do so with respect to the records it sought in the FOIA Requests.
- 119. Each of the Departments denied Plaintiff OSJI's request for expedited processing, and OSJI has administratively appealed those denials.
- 120. Each Department constructively denied Plaintiff OSJI's FOIA Requests by failing to respond within the statutorily prescribed timeframe.
- 121. Plaintiff OSJI has worked with each of the Departments to clarify or narrow the FOIA Requests. However, none of the Departments has produced responsive documents.

CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT I

Violation of the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution(All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants)

- 122. Plaintiffs repeat the allegations set forth above as if fully set forth herein.
- 123. The Executive Order and the Regulations violate the First Amendment by barring Plaintiffs from engaging in certain speech and advocacy to support the ICC, and by subjecting Plaintiffs to the prospect of civil or criminal sanctions, and designation, for engaging in that speech or advocacy.

COUNT II

Violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution(All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants)

124. Plaintiffs repeat the allegations set forth above as if fully set forth herein.

- 125. The Executive Order's terms "materially assisted," "material ... support," and "services to or in support of" violate the Fifth Amendment because they provide no notice to Plaintiffs as to what acts are prohibited, and permit arbitrary enforcement of the Executive Order.
- 126. The Executive Order's term "foreign person" violates the Fifth Amendment because it provides no notice to Plaintiffs as to whether they could be subject to designation under the Executive Order, and permits its arbitrary enforcement.
- 127. The Regulations violate the Fifth Amendment by failing to clarify the meaning of any of these terms.

COUNT III Ultra Vires Action under IEEPA, 50 U.S.C. §§ 1701, et seq. (All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants)

- 128. Plaintiffs repeat the allegations set forth above as if fully set forth herein.
- 129. IEEPA does not authorize the President to "regulate or prohibit, directly or indirectly ... the importation from any country, or the exportation to any country, whether commercial or otherwise, regardless of format or medium of transmission, of any information or informational materials, including but not limited to, publications, films, posters, phonograph records, photographs, microfilms, microfiche, tapes, compact disks, CD ROMs, artworks, and news wire feeds." 50 U.S.C. § 1702(b)(3).
- 130. Plaintiffs past and planned future acts include the importation and/or exportation of "information or informational materials" within the meaning of IEEPA.
- 131. The Executive Order is *ultra vires* because it regulates or prohibits, and authorizes Defendants to regulate or prohibit, acts that are exempt from regulation or prohibition under IEEPA.

132. The Regulations are *ultra vires* because they regulate or prohibit acts that are exempt from regulation or prohibition under IEEPA.

COUNT IV Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706 (All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants)

- 133. The Administrative Procedure Act ("APA") requires courts to hold unlawful and set aside agency actions that are "arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law," "contrary to constitutional right, power, privilege, or immunity," or "in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or short of statutory right." 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A)-(C).
- 134. In enacting and implementing the Executive Order and the Regulations, Defendants did not act in accordance with the First and Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, violated Plaintiffs' constitutional rights under the First and Fifth Amendments, and exceeded their statutory authority under IEEPA.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court:

- A. Declare that the Executive Order and the Regulations violate the First and Fifth Amendments to the United States Constitution, are *ultra vires* under IEEPA, and violate the APA;
- B. Preliminarily and permanently enjoin Defendants from designating Plaintiffs under the Executive Order or the Regulations, or enforcing IEEPA's civil or criminal penalty provisions against them;
- C. Award Plaintiffs their costs and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in this action; and

D. Grant such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: October 1, 2020 Respectfully submitted

OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE, DIANE MARIE AMANN, MILENA STERIO, MARGARET DEGUZMAN and GABOR RONA

By their attorneys,

/s/ Nicholas M. Renzler
Nicholas M. Renzler (NR1608)
Brittan Heller (pro hac vice to be submitted)
FOLEY HOAG LLP
1717 K Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20006
202-223-1200
nrenzler@foleyhoag.com
bheller@foleyhoag.com

Shrutih Tewarie (SR1705) FOLEY HOAG LLP 1301 Avenue of the America New York, NY 10019 646-927-5500 stewarie@foleyhoag.com

Andrew B. Loewenstein (pro hac vice to be submitted)

Stephen Stich (application for admission to be submitted)

Ned Melanson (pro hac vice to be submitted)

FOLEY HOAG LLP

Seaport West
155 Seaport Boulevard

Boston, MA 02210
617-832-1000

aloewenstein@foleyhoag.com

sstich@foleyhoag.com

nmelanson@foleyhoag.com

OPEN SOCIETY
JUSTICE INITIATIVE

James A. Goldston
Executive Director

justiceinitiative.org

OPEN SOCIETY FOUNDATIONS

Open Society
Justice Initiative
224 West 57th Street
New York, NY 10019, USA

August 24, 2020

p. +1 212-548-0600 f. +1 212-548-4608

BY OFAC ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION

Ms. Andrea Gacki, Director Office of Foreign Assets Control U.S. Department of the Treasury 1500 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20220

Re: Request for Interpretive Ruling Regarding Executive Order 13928

Dear Director:

Through this letter, the Open Society Justice Initiative ("Justice Initiative") requests an interpretive ruling regarding what it means to "materially assist[]" or provide "services" in support of the activities identified in Sections 1(a)(i)(A) and Section 1(a)(i)(B) of Executive Order 13928 ("Executive Order" or "Order") *Blocking Property of Certain Persons Associated With the International Criminal Court*, that targets persons associated with or supporting the International Criminal Court ("ICC" or "Court").

As no person or entity has yet been publicly designated under the Executive Order, and the language of this Order is expansive, it is difficult for persons to determine which activities may place them at risk of designation.

Under Section 1(a)(i)(C) of the Executive Order, the Secretary of State, in consultation with the Secretary of Treasury, can designate any foreign person determined to have "materially assisted" or provided "services" in support of any activity identified in the Order. The Order thus authorizes the designation of someone who materially assists or provides services in furtherance of an activity identified in Section 1(a)(i)(A) and Section 1(a)(i)(B), even if a person primarily responsible for that activity (e.g., the ICC prosecutor) has not been designated.

Further, U.S. government officials, in public comments, have referenced sanctions against those who assist activities identified in the Executive Order. In a press conference concerning the Executive Order, Attorney General William Barr stated, "[t]he executive actions announced here will ensure that those who assist the ICC's politically motivated investigation of American service members and intelligence

officers without the United States' consent will suffer serious consequences."¹ This statement may be viewed as an explicit threat to sanction persons who assist the ICC. Given the potential breadth of the Executive Order, it is unclear who is at risk of designation, and for what activities.

We seek guidance regarding which activities may constitute "materially assist[ing]" or providing "services" to activities under the Order, as follows:

- General advice, training or support to the ICC. Would providing general advice (including but not limited to legal advice), training, or support to the ICC and/or its officials (e.g., the Prosecutor) for general purposes constitute "materially assist[ing]" or providing a "service" to the activities listed in Section 1(a)(i)(A) or Section 1(a)(i)(B)? For purposes of this question, such activities might include:
 - Training ICC officials on general investigation tactics;
 - submitting technical reports that address enhancing prosecutorial functioning;
 - convening a conference on international justice that would be attended by ICC officials.
- Specific advice, training or support to the ICC relating to subsections A or B of Section 1(a)(i). Would providing specific advice (including but not limited to legal advice), training, or other support to the ICC and/or its officials (e.g., the Prosecutor) in connection with activities listed in Section 1(a)(i)(A) or Section 1(a)(i)(B) qualify as "materially assist[ing]" or providing a "service"? For purposes of this question, such activities might include, for example:
 - Providing training to organizations that assist victims who seek to communicate with the ICC regarding the investigation, arrest, detention, or prosecution of U.S. personnel or personnel of its allies not party to the Rome Statute;
 - organizing or attending meetings with ICC personnel or victims' representatives where the investigation, arrest, detention, or prosecution of U.S. personnel or personnel of its allies not party to the Rome Statute may be discussed;
 - writing public commentary, including blogs and articles, in support of the ICC's investigation, arrest, detention, or prosecution of U.S. allies not party to the Rome Statute and/or U.S. personnel; and
 - submitting amicus briefs in support of the ICC's investigation, arrest, detention, or prosecution of U.S. allies not party to the Rome Statute and/or U.S. personnel.

While this Executive Order is currently in the pre-designation stage, its expansive language makes it unclear whether certain activities, including constitutionally protected speech, could lead to designation. Thus, it is already having a deterrent effect on persons who wish to interact with the ICC. September and October are

¹ U.S. Department of Defense Press Release (June 11, 2020) *available at* https://www.state.gov/secretary-michael-r-pompeo-at-a-press-availability-with-secretary-of-defense-mark-esper-attorney-general-william-barr-and-national-security-advisor-robert-obrien/.

critical time periods for concerned persons who support the ICC. Such groups customarily accelerate their work in this time period in preparation for the annual Assembly of States Parties meeting, which occurs every year in late November or early December (and is scheduled for December 7-17, 2020). Given the immediate ramifications, we request a response to our inquiry within 20 calendar days or no later than September 14, 2020.

* * * * *

Please be advised that this letter contains commercial and financial information about the Justice Initiative, an operational program of the Open Society Institute, that is proprietary and confidential and which is, therefore, exempt from the public access provisions of the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552. Such information, if disclosed, could adversely affect the financial and competitive position of the Justice Initiative. Accordingly, we request that this letter be withheld in the event of a demand for its disclosure. We understand that, in the event of such a demand, OFAC will give the Justice Initiative prompt notice and opportunity to be heard prior to taking any action to disclose.

Respectfully submitted,

James A. Goldston Executive Director

CC: Taylor Ruggles
Director, Office of Economic Sanctions Policy and Implementation
U.S. Department of State

Subject: OFAC License Application Received

From: "OFACLicensing@treasury.gov" < OFACLicensing@treasury.gov>

Date: September 8, 2020 at 3:47:48 PM EDT

To: James Goldston < james.goldston@opensocietyfoundations.org >

Subject: OFAC License Application Received

Your license application, Reference Number InterprRuleReqEO13928, regarding Open Society Justice Initiative has been received on 08/24/2020, and assigned Case Number ICCP-EO13928-2020-369020-1. Please have this Case Number available when contacting OFAC regarding this application.

This electronic message transmission contains information from the Office of Foreign Assets Control, US Department of the Treasury which may be confidential or privileged. The information is intended to be for the use of the individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this information is prohibited. If you have received this electronic transmission in error, please notify us by calling 202-622-2480 immediately. Thank you.

Subject: RE: Open Society Institute's August 24 request

From: James Goldston < james.goldston@opensocietyfoundations.org>

Sent: Tuesday, September 15, 2020 3:06 PM

To:

Cc: James Goldston < james.goldston@opensocietyfoundations.org>

Subject: RE: Open Society Institute's August 24 request

Thank you for your email. I confirm that I am the appropriate point of contact for this request. Please do not hesitate to reach out to me should you have questions. Given that this request is time-sensitive, I would appreciate if you would provide an estimate of when I might expect a final response from OFAC.

Thank you.

Sincerely,

James A. Goldston (he, his)
Executive Director
Open Society Justice Initiative
224 West 57 Street, New York, NY 10019
+1-212-548-0118/www.justiceinitiative.org
@JamesAGoldston

From:

Sent: Wednesday, September 9, 2020 11:45 AM

To: James Goldston < james.goldston@opensocietyfoundations.org>

Subject: Open Society Institute's August 24 request

Good morning. I am the Licensing Officer working on OFAC's response to your August 24 request for guidance on recent U.S. Government actions regarding the International Criminal Court. Your request has been assigned case number ICCP-EO13928-2020-369020-1. I may be reaching out to you in the coming weeks with any questions about your request that arise, and you should feel free to come to me with questions or updates regarding Open Society's activities.

Please also let me know if you are working with any external counsel who you would like to include in OFAC's communications with you.

Sanctions Licensing Officer
Office of Foreign Assets Control
U.S. Department of the Treasury

OPEN SOCIETY
JUSTICE INITIATIVE

James A. Goldston
Executive Director

justiceinitiative.org

OPEN SOCIETY FOUNDATIONS

Open Society
Justice Initiative
224 West 57th Street
New York, NY 10019, USA

p. +1 212-548-0600 f. +1 212-548-4608 July 9, 2020

Via email

DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Office of Information Programs & Services, A/GIS/IPS/RL SA-2, Suite 8100 Washington, DC 20522-0208 FOIARequest@state.gov

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

FOIA/PA Mail Referral Unit Room 115 LOC Building Washington, DC 20530-0001 MRUFOIA.Requests@usdoj.gov

DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY

FOIA and Transparency Washington, DC 20220 treasfoia@treasury.gov

Re: Freedom of Information Act Request Expedited Processing and Fee Waiver Requested

This letter constitutes a request ("Request") pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"), 5 U.S.C. § 552, and the implementing regulations of your agency, submitted on behalf of the Open Society Justice Initiative ("Justice Initiative"), an operational program of the Open Society Institute ("OSI"), a New York State charitable trust and nonprofit organization. We request records concerning events leading to the June 11, 2020 Executive Order issued by President Donald Trump relating to travel and economic sanctions against the International Criminal Court ("ICC" or "Court") and persons associated with it. We respectfully ask that this request is forwarded to any other component agency as appropriate. Expedited processing is requested pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E), as is a fee waiver, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii).

A. BACKGROUND

On November 3, 2017, the ICC Presidency assigned to a Pre-Trial Chamber of the Court a request from the ICC Prosecutor, Fatou Bensouda, for judicial authorization of an investigation into alleged crimes committed in connection with the armed conflict in Afghanistan. The request sought an investigation focused "solely upon war crimes and crimes against humanity allegedly committed since 1 May 2003 on the territory of Afghanistan as well as war crimes closely linked to the situation in Afghanistan allegedly committed since 1 July 2002 on the territory of other States Parties to the Rome Statute," the treaty that established the ICC.

¹ International Criminal Court (The Presidency), *Decision assigning the situation in the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan*, No. ICC-01/17, Nov. 3, 2017, *available at* https://www.icc-cpi.int/CourtRecords/CR2017_06574.PDF.

² Statement of ICC Prosecutor, Fatou Bensouda, regarding her decision to request judicial authorisation to commence an investigation into the Situation in the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan, ICC, Nov. 3, 2017, https://www.icc-cpi.int/Pages/item.aspx?name=171103_OTP_Statement.

As noted by the White House, the "Prosecutor indicated this investigation would focus on Afghan National Security Forces, the Taliban, and the Haqqani network, alongside war crimes allegedly committed by United States service members and intelligence professionals during the war in Afghanistan." On September 10, 2018, the White House issued a release warning that should the ICC proceed with an investigation, the Administration "will consider...ban[ning] ICC judges and prosecutors from entering the United States, sanction their funds in the United States financial system, and, prosecute them in the United States criminal system."

On March 15, 2019, Secretary of State Mike Pompeo announced that the U.S. would impose visa restrictions on "individuals directly responsible for any [ICC] investigation of U.S. personnel." On April 3, the Office of the Prosecutor of the ICC ("OTP") confirmed that the Prosecutor's visa was revoked. On April 12, the ICC Pre-Trial Chamber rejected the Prosecutor's request to investigate the situation in Afghanistan. On June 7, the Prosecutor's request, allowing a limited appeal to proceed. On October 9, Secretary Pompeo issued a restatement noting that the U.S. policy on the ICC remained unchanged.

On March 5, 2020, the Appeals Chamber of the ICC decided unanimously to authorize the Prosecutor's investigation into the situation in Afghanistan, amending the original Pre-Trial Chamber's April 12 decision. On March 17, Secretary Pompeo announced that the U.S. would seek to sanction OTP staff members Sam Shoamanesh (*chef de cabinet*) and Phakiso Mochochoko (Head of Jurisdiction, Complementarity, and Cooperation), along with their families, for assisting the Prosecutor's efforts to pursue an investigation into the situation in Afghanistan. 12

On May 29, Secretary Pompeo stated that the public would soon see "a series of announcements from not just the State Department, [but] from all across the United States government that attempt to push back against what the ICC is up to." On June 11, President Trump issued Executive Order 13928, *Blocking Property Of Certain Persons Associated With The International Criminal Court* ("EO") that outlined a prospective framework to impose economic and travel sanctions on persons associated with or supporting the ICC. The EO invokes four laws: the National Emergencies Act (50 U.S.C. 1601 et seq.) ("NEA"), which enables the president to declare a national emergency; the International Emergency Economic Powers Act (50 U.S.C. 1701 et seq.) ("IEEPA"), a sanctions regime; the Immigration and Nationality Act

³ Protecting American Constitutionalism and Sovereignty from the International Criminal Court, White House, Sept. 10, 2018, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/protecting-american-constitutionalism-sovereignty-international-criminal-court/.

⁴ *Id*

⁵ Lesley Wroughton, *U.S. imposes visa bans on International Criminal Court investigators*, Reuters, Mar. 15, 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/uk-usa-icc/u-s-imposes-visa-bans-on-international-criminal-court-investigators-pompeo-idUSKCN1QW1ZH.

⁶ Stephanie van den Berg & Leslie Wroughton, *U.S. revokes ICC prosecutor's entry visa over Afghanistan investigation*, Reuters, Apr. 4, 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-icc-prosecutor/u-s-revokes-icc-prosecutors-entry-visa-over-afghanistan-investigation-idUSKCN1RG2NP.

⁷ Situation in the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan, Investigation, ICC-02/17, ICC, https://www.icc-cpi.int/afghanistan. ⁸ *Id.*

⁹ *Id*.

¹⁰ U.S. Policy on the International Criminal Court Remains Unchanged, U.S. Dep't of State, Oct. 9, 2019, https://www.state.gov/u-s-policy-on-the-international-criminal-court-remains-unchanged/.

¹¹ Situation in the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan, Investigation, ICC-02/17, ICC, https://www.icc-cpi.int/afghanistan.

¹² Secretary Michael R. Pompeo's Remarks to the Press, Dep't of State, Mar. 17, 2020, https://www.state.gov/secretary-michael-r-pompeo-remarks-to-the-press-6.

¹³ Secretary Michael R. Pompeo With Marc Thiessen and Danielle Pletka of AEI's 'What The Hell Is Going On' Podcast, U.S. Dep't of State, May 29, 2020, https://www.state.gov/secretary-michael-r-pompeo-with-marc-thiessen-and-danielle-pletka-of-aeis-what-the-hell-is-going-on-podcast/.

of 1952 (8 U.S.C. 1182(f)) ("INA"), which permits the exclusion of foreign nationals from entering the United States; and section 301 of title 3, United States Code, which authorizes the president to delegate powers to executive agencies. The EO describes the ICC's investigation of U.S. personnel and personnel of U.S. allies that have not consented to ICC jurisdiction as "an unusual and extraordinary threat to the national security and foreign policy of the United States" and as such, the President must declare "a national emergency to deal with that threat." ¹¹⁴

As written, the EO does not result in the automatic designation of any person or entity. Instead, it lists the categories of persons and entities that can be sanctioned, as to be determined by the Secretary of State, in consultation with the Secretary of Treasury and the Attorney General. Those impacted by the EO include U.S. persons, including U.S. entities, as well as foreign persons and foreign entities, along with property inside and outside the United States.

B. RECORDS REQUESTED

1.

The Justice Initiative requests expedited disclosure of records, ¹⁵ including communications, ¹⁶ created on or after November 3, 2017, ¹⁷ including:

- All records that include the following terms:
 - a. "Int! Crim! Court", ICC or "Rome Statute" AND:
 - i. "Ex! Or!" or "EO"
 - ii. "National Emergencies Act" or NEA
 - iii. "International Emergency Economic Powers Act" or IEEPA
 - iv. sanction! or designat!
 - v. "First Am!", "1st Am!" or "1A" (as it pertains to the "First Amendment")
 - vi. defer! or "art! 16"
 - b. "Fatou Bensouda", Bensouda, "ICC Prosecutor", or OTP
 - c. "Sam Shoamanesh" or Shoamanesh
 - d. "Phakiso Mochochoko" or Mochochoko
 - e. "ICC judg!"
- 2. Cables and other communications to and from U.S. embassies regarding policy positions, requests and queries, to and from their host government(s) pertaining to the ICC.

¹⁴ Executive Order 13928, Executive Order on Blocking Property Of Certain Persons Associated With The International Criminal Court, Jun. 11, 2020.

¹⁵ For the purpose of this request, the term "records" includes, but is not limited to, any and all agendas; agreements; analyses; calendars; correspondence; data; databases; directives; documents; e-mails and e-mail attachments, including those sent through personal email accounts (e.g., Gmail); reports; rules; schedules; studies; tables of contents and contents of binders; talking points; technical specifications; training materials; examinations; faxes; files; guidance; guidelines; evaluations; instructions; letters; manifests; manuals; memoranda; notes; orders; prepared documentation for meetings, calls, teleconferences, or other discussions responsive to our request; policies; procedures; protocols; text messages and messages sent or received through other messaging applications (e.g., WhatsApp, iMessage, Signal); voicemails; and any other materials. In the event that such records once existed but have now been destroyed, please disclose any records that are integrally related to, summarize, or are interchangeable with said records. *Press clippings and news articles that are unaccompanied by any commentary need not be produced.*

¹⁶ For the purpose of this request, the term "communications" includes, but is not limited to, directives, cables, memoranda; correspondence; briefings; e-mails and e-mail attachments, including sent through personal email accounts (e.g., Gmail); faxes; instructions; letters; text messages and messages sent or received through other messaging applications (e.g., WhatsApp, iMessage, Signal); and voicemails. In the event that such communications once existed but are no longer available, please disclose any records that are integrally related to, summarize, or are interchangeable with said records.

¹⁷ The date the ICC Presidency assigned the Afghanistan situation to a Pre-Trial Chamber in anticipation of the Prosecutor's request for authorization to investigate. International Criminal Court (The Presidency), *Decision assigning the situation in the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan*, No. ICC-01/17, Nov. 3, 2017, *available at* https://www.icc-cpi.int/CourtRecords/CR2017_06574.PDF.

C. APPLICATION FOR EXPEDITED PROCESSING

The Justice Initiative requests expedited processing pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E), as the records requested are urgently needed to inform the public about actual or alleged government activity, see 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E)(v)(II), and the Justice Initiative is an organization "primarily engaged in disseminating information...to inform the public concerning" that activity. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E)(v)(I-II). While meeting the FOIA's expedition requirements, the Justice Initiative also requests expedition on the grounds that failure to obtain requested records on an expedited basis could impair or result in the loss of substantial due process rights per agency's regulations. See 28 CFR § 16.5(e)(iii); 31 CFR § 1.4(e)(iii); 22 CFR § 171.11(f)(3). We affirm that the following information and statements concerning the need for expedited processing are true and correct to the best of our knowledge and belief.

The Justice Initiative is "primarily engaged in disseminating information" within the meaning of the FOIA. 18 Am. Civil Liberties Union v. Dep't of Justice, 321 F. Supp. 2d 24, 29 n.5 (D.D.C. 2004) (finding that a non-profit, public interest group that "gathers information of potential interest to a segment of the public, uses its editorial skills to turn the raw material into a distinct work, and distributes that work to an audience" is "primarily engaged in disseminating information" within the meaning of the statute and regulations); cf. Elec. Privacy Info. Ctr. v. U.S. Dep't of Def., 241 F. Supp. 2d 5, 11-12 (D.D.C. 2003) (finding that the Electronic Privacy Information Center was a representative of the news media based on its publication of seven books about national and international policies relating to privacy and civil rights); see also Nat'l Sec. Archive v. U.S. Dep't of Def., 880 F.2d 1381, 1386 (D.C. Cir. 1989) (National Security Archive deemed a representative of the news media after publishing one book and indicating its intention to publish a set of documents on national and international politics and nuclear policy).

The Justice Initiative is an operating public interest law center dedicated to upholding human rights and the rule of law through litigation, advocacy, research, and technical assistance, with offices in New York, London and Berlin. It is part of the Open Society Institute ("OSI"), a tax-exempt, non-partisan, not-forprofit organization, headquartered in New York City. OSI believes that solutions to national, regional and global challenges require the free exchange of ideas and thought, and works to build vibrant and inclusive societies, grounded in respect for human rights and the rule of law, whose governments are accountable and open to the participation of all people. In support of their shared mission, OSI and the Justice Initiative share information with the public free of charge, through their websites, newsletters, and other publications to promote public understanding and robust debate. Disseminating information is among the Justice Initiative's core activities. To accomplish its goals, the Justice Initiative maintains a website, www.justiceinitiative.org, through which it disseminates reports, briefing papers, fact sheets and other publications (www.justiceinitiative.org/publications) relating to its mission, as well as records produced through FOIA requests. ¹⁹ It also directly distributes hard copies of publications and disseminates information via quarterly email newsletters, blogs (www.opensocietyfoundations.org/voices), Twitter (www.twitter.com/OSFJustice) and Facebook (www.facebook.com/OpenSocietyFoundations).

At this moment, it is unclear who and what activities are subject to sanction or punishment under the terms of the EO. No further guidance on how the EO may be applied has been released, leaving individuals associated with the ICC and its work uncertain about whether they might be targets and whether they should avoid certain activities. As described by a former Senior Advisor to the Director of the U.S. Treasury Department's Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC), the lead agency charged with

¹⁸ See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E)(v)(II).

¹⁹ See e.g., Open Society Justice Initiative v. Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) et al., 44795-Jamal-Khashoggi-FOIA, available at https://www.documentcloud.org/public/search/projectid:44795-Jamal-Khashoggi-FOIA.

implementing and enforcing economic sanctions, the EO is a "naked EO" since no one is yet designated.²⁰ This type of EO results in uncertainty for individuals regarding how to tailor their behavior so not to risk designation, leading to the conclusion "that the goal is to chill current and future activities."²¹

The EO has become a source of considerable confusion given the breadth and ambiguity of its provisions. Law professors, lawyers, advocates and non-governmental organizations have all publicly expressed concern that, without more information, their activities appear to possibly fall within the terms of the EO.²² Laws that are overbroad or unclear can lead people to refrain from engaging in permissible actions because they are unsure whether they will be legally sanctioned, creating a "chill" under the "threat of enforcement."²³ It is well-established under U.S. constitutional jurisprudence that the terms of a law "must be sufficiently explicit to inform those who are subject to it what conduct on their part will render them liable to its penalties...and a statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application violates the first essential of *due process* of law."²⁴

As written, the EO is open-ended, giving officials broad leeway in its application, implicating even family members of ICC personnel, academics, human rights advocates and nongovernmental organizations, who are connected to or work with the ICC. It also affects those U.S. persons serving the ICC in its three primary organs (i.e. OTP, Chambers, Registry), including staff, interns, consultants and advisors, as well as businesses providing services to the Court. The day following the EO's release, the *American Bar Association*, the largest association of lawyers in the world and "the national voice of the legal profession," released a statement noting it was "deeply disturbed" by the EO.²⁵ On June 26, a group of 174 U.S. lawyers and legal scholars, working across 80 U.S. universities and including three former U.S. ambassadors, U.S. lawyers who participated in cross-jurisdictional war crimes cases, and the last surviving U.S. Nuremberg prosecutor, sent a letter to the White House asking the president to rescind the EO, citing that it is "wrong in principle," "contrary to American values" and "mock[ed] our bipartisan commitment to human rights and the rule of law."²⁶

²⁰ Adam M. Smith, *Dissecting the Executive Order on Int'l Criminal Court Sanctions: Scope, Effectiveness, and Tradeoffs*, Just Security, Jun. 15, 2020, https://www.justsecurity.org/70779/dissecting-the-executive-order-on-intl-criminal-court-sanctions-scope-effectiveness-and-tradeoffs/.

 $^{^{21}}$ Id

²² See e.g., Leila Sadat, First They Came For Me and My Colleagues: The U.S. Attack on the Int'l Criminal Court, Just Security, Jun. 29, 2020, https://www.justsecurity.org/70996/first-they-came-for-me-and-my-colleagues-the-us-attack-on-the-intl-criminal-court/; Diane Marie Amann, I help children in armed conflict. The President is forcing me to stop, Just Security, Jun. 29, 2020, https://www.justsecurity.org/71048/i-help-children-in-armed-conflict-the-president-is-forcing-me-to-stop/; Jennifer Trahan & Megan Fairlie, The International Criminal Court is Hardly a Threat to US National Security, Opinio Juris, Jun. 15, 2020; http://opiniojuris.org/2020/06/15/the-international-criminal-court-is-hardly-a-threat-to-us-national-security/; Human Rights First Criticizes Trump Administration Executive Order On the ICC, Human Rights First, Jun. 11, 2020, https://www.humanrightsfirst.org/press-release/human-rights-first-criticizes-trump-administration-executive-order-icc; Open Society Condemns Trump Administration for Undermining International Rule of Law, Open Society Foundations, Jun. 11, 2020, https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/newsroom/open-society-condemns-trump-administration-for-undermining-international-rule-of-law; Letter to President Donald Trump Against Sanctions on ICC Investigators of Atrocities, available at https://www.scribd.com/document/467370291/Lawyers-statement-on-ICC-sanctions.

²³ U.S. v. Williams, 553 U.S. 285, 292 (2008).

²⁴ Connally v. General Construction Co., 269 U.S. 385, 391 (1926) (emphasis added).

²⁵ ABA President Judy Perry Martinez statement Re: U.S. sanctions of International Criminal Court personnel, Am. Bar Ass'n., Jun. 12, 2020, https://www.americanbar.org/news/abanews/aba-news-archives/2020/06/aba-president-judy-perry-martinez-statement-re--u-s--sanctions-o/

²⁶ Letter to President Donald Trump Against Sanctions on ICC Investigators of Atrocities, *available at* https://www.scribd.com/document/467370291/Lawyers-statement-on-ICC-sanctions. *See also*, Gen. Wesley K. Clark, *The United States Has Nothing to Fear From the ICC*, Foreign Policy, Jul. 2, 2020, https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/07/02/the-united-states-has-nothing-to-fear-from-the-icc/.

U.S. sanctioning action usually involves accused terrorists, weapons proliferators or perpetrators of human rights violations.²⁷ However, this EO is unprecedented because it targets and potentially violates the free speech and due process rights of law-abiding U.S. nationals and/or entities.²⁸ The Supreme Court holds firm that the right of speech is a "transcendent value,"²⁹ entitled to special protections as it is so "supremely precious."³⁰ This has resulted in robust jurisprudence barring activity that may "chill" protected speech, by recognizing, and guarding against, the myriad ways that government action can restrict it.³¹ As noted by legal experts, "the vaguely drafted Order is overbroad in many ways"³² "that will cause, at a minimum, a chilling effect on NGO's, businesses, academics, and academic institutions, as well as others, who directly or indirectly do business, advise, or support the ICC in any manner."³³ As such, it is urgent that the public have access to information that can inform it of the motivations behind, and specifics of, the EO so that they can engage in activities without fear.

Since the Justice Initiative is an organization "primarily engaged in disseminating information" and this Request seeks records to inform the public of urgently needed information regarding government activity, expedition must be granted.

D. APPLICATION FOR FEE WAIVER

We request a waiver of search, review and duplication fees on the grounds that disclosure of the requested information "is in the public interest because it is likely to contribute significantly to public understanding of the operations or activities of the government and is not primarily in the commercial interest of the requester." 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii).

As set forth in the Section above, the information and records at issue will contribute significantly to the public understanding of the implications of the EO in question and its application. Furthermore, the Justice Initiative, a non-profit entity, does not seek disclosure of these records for commercial gain and intends to disseminate the information disclosed from this request to the public at no cost.

For the same reasons that render the Justice Initiative as "primarily engaged in disseminating information," see Section C. supra, it is also a "representative of the news media" within the meaning of the FOIA. As such, it is entitled to a fee waiver. See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(ii)(II). See also Judicial Watch, Inc. v. Rossotti, 326 F.3d 1309, 1312 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (recognizing Congress's intent that FOIA's fee waiver provision is to be "liberally construed in favor of waivers for noncommercial requesters").

* * * * *

Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. \S 552(a)(6)(E)(ii)(I) and 5 U.S.C. \S 552(a)(6)(A)(i), respectively, we look forward to your reply to the request for expedited processing within ten calendar days, and to the request for disclosure within twenty days.

²⁷ Christopher A. Casey et al., *The International Emergency Economic Powers Act: Origins, Evolution, and Use* (R45618) Cong. Research Serv., Mar. 20, 2019, *available at* https://fas.org/sgp/crs/natsec/R45618.pdf.

²⁸ For a discussion on how broad EO provisions can implication free speech and due process rights, *see* Andrew Boyle, *Recent North Korea Arrest Raises Questions About Free Speech Rights*, Brennan Center, Apr. 30, 2020,

https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/analysis-opinion/recent-north-korea-arrest-raises-questions-about-free-speech-rights.

²⁹ Speiser v. Randall, 357 U.S. 513, 526 (1958).

³⁰ NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 433 (1963).

³¹ See Leslie Kendrick, Speech, Intent, and the Chilling Effect, 54 Wm. & Mary L. Rev. 1633, 1651 n.88. (2013).

³² Jennifer Trahan & Megan Fairlie, *The International Criminal Court is Hardly a Threat to US National Security*, Opinio Juris, Jun. 15, 2020, http://opiniojuris.org/2020/06/15/the-international-criminal-court-is-hardly-a-threat-to-us-national-security/.

³³ David M. Crane, *The Wrong Side of History—The United States and the International Criminal Court*, Jurist, Jun. 13, 2020, https://www.jurist.org/commentary/2020/06/david-crane-wrong-history-icc/.

We request that responsive records are provided electronically in their native file format. See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(B). Alternatively, we request that the records are provided electronically in a text-searchable, static-image format (PDF), in the best image quality in the agency's possession, and that the records be provided in separate, Bates-stamped files. Press clippings and news articles that are unaccompanied by any commentary need not be produced.

If this request is denied in whole or part, please justify all withholdings by reference to specific exemptions and statutes, as applicable. For each withholding, please also explain why your agency "reasonably foresees that disclosure would harm an interest protected by an exemption" or why "disclosure is prohibited by law[.]" 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(8)(A)(i). We seek the release of all segregable portions of otherwise exempt material, *see* 5 U.S.C. § 552(b). We also reserve the right to appeal any decision in relation to this Request.

Thank you for your prompt attention to this Request. Please send all records and correspondence by email to Natasha Arnpriester at Natasha. Arnpriester@opensocietyfoundations.org.

Sincerely,

Natasha Ampriester

Betsy Apple Christian De Vos

James A. Goldston

Open Society Justice Initiative

224 West 57th Street

New York, New York 10019

T: (212) 548 0600 F: (212) 548 4662